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Stucco as a specific material for works of art and art-and-craft decorations was
often overlooked in art history as “minor art” of a kind or even likened to “arte
povera” - art made of cheaper and more quickly workable material that does
not bear comparison with much costlier and more exclusive sculptural works
made of stone or bronze. This view is certainly not without justification - after
all, in the recently completed overall mapping of Renaissance stucco works

in the Czech territory, we could observe in many studied works surface adap-
tations of the stucco with which the authors endeavoured to imitate another
material, above all marble. Yet, the importance of this material is indisputable.
From the perspective of the basic formal and compositional possibilities, the
stucco technique makes it possible to create figural works including fully plastic
sculptures, high and low reliefs, as well as ornamental decorations ranging from
rather simple structures to complex works. At the same time, stucco can bear
various types of surface finish from monochrome paints to polychromy, gilding,
incrustation or the addition of other materials. Moreover, as a highly variable
technique, it was often used together with other types of art, typically in com-
bination with mural painting. The works themselves were made using and varied
scale of art-and-craft modelling techniques such as the layering of the stucco
mass, modelling by hand and using tools, stamping from forms, the use of tem-
plates, shape cutting, etc. A considerable variability concerned also the formula
and the used materials, which changed with the type of decoration and were
also influenced by the availability of the materials and the habits of the partic-

ular craftsmen. In Italy, Giovanni da Udine discovered the formula for classical



ancient stucco where the filler of the upper layer consisted of marble dust;
besides marble, however, we often encounter various kinds of sands or crushed
quartz, for example.

The theme of stucco art requires interdisciplinarity in many respects, as only a
combination of various methodological approaches from both the humanities
and the natural sciences provides sets of data whose analysis and evaluation
advance the existing knowledge in the context of, for example, art history, where
the current trend is the examination of material aspects of works of art. The re-
search of the original technological procedures, sources of raw materials, histor-
ical formulae and written sources reflecting the origin of the monuments as well
as later reparative interventions, together with detailed material surveys, rep-
resent the basis for qualified restoration. Thus, interdisciplinarily conceived re-
search contributes considerably to our knowledge and enables the application

of the results in practice - in this case, in restoration and historic preservation.

The research project Renaissance and Mannerist Stucco in Bohemia and Mora-
via in 2018-2022 was devoted to interdisciplinary research.’ It aimed to map,
as widely as possible, the stucco art in the Czech territory until 1620, analyse
selected works in detail and, based on the new knowledge, test restoration
procedures in practice. A broadly set up team of experts dealt with numerous
themes in several research areas. From the art history perspective, the research
spheres included, for example, the import of the technique to central Europe
and the artists migrating from northern Italy and a part of Switzerland (the
Ticino region), the reception of stylistic elements of the Italian Renaissance
and international Mannerism and their adaptation in local art practice or basic
“topographic” research enabling to view the material, so far little known, in the
full width of its stylistic, material and technological variability. New groups of
works interconnected by authors or the ordering parties have been identified
thanks to a thorough mapping of the localities. For selected monuments, art
history research was accompanied by natural science analyses whose results
brought distinctive discoveries concerning material and technology specifics

of stucco monuments in the Czech territory. These analyses were selectively



complemented with restoration surveys focused on historical and modern res-
toration interventions in the stucco works, which made it possible to assess the

authenticity of the studied monuments.

The present book follows a conference that took place in the final stage of the
project in the autumn of 2022 and complements a collective monograph bear-
ing the same name as the research project, Renaissance and Mannerist Stucco
in Bohemia and Moravia.” While the monograph completing five-year research
contains overview chapters focused on the cultural-historical context of Re-
naissance stucco works in the Czech lands, their material and technology as-
pects and a selective catalogue in the form of independent studies, the present
volume deals with topics that exceed the Czech Republic’s boundaries or those
that could not have been sufficiently reflected in the published monograph be-
cause of their specific character. The case studies contained in it approach the
theme of Renaissance stucco art in the broader region north of the Alps from
various perspectives of interdisciplinary research. Based on the thematic focus
of the individual chapters, the present publication is divided into five circles -
the art history, materiality, the 20th-century perspective, restoration and the
catalogue. Each of the contributions is the result of interdisciplinary research,
while the book as a whole presents the theme of Renaissance stucco from

the perspectives of traditional art history, technology and restoration history
research. This can be illustrated by the three chapters devoted to the Star Sum-
mer Palace - all of which begin with basic data, but from which three different

lines of research are derived.

The first section, “Art History”, includes, from the methodology perspective,
contributions based on traditional methods - archival research and formal
analysis set in a broader interdisciplinary context - and studies focused on the
interpretation of the importance of stucco decorations. It presents the issues
of stucco art on the Rudolphine court in Prague, the European context of Pol-
ish Renaissance stucco works, a chapter focused on the importance of illusive
views shown on the example of the decorations at Bucovice Castle and, finally,

the iconography of the Star Summer Palace in Prague.



The “Materiality” part incorporates two studies presenting the complex surveys
of particular stucco works with an emphasis on technology and material analy-
ses and processing, as an example, the stucco works of the Star Summer Palace
in Prague and the decoration of the dome of the Boim Chapel in Lviv. Two more
contributions view the issues of materiality more generally, concisely presenting
specific groups of monuments - in the first case, the stucco parts of Renais-
sance epitaphs in the Czech lands; in the second, marble imitations around
1600 in the wider region north of the Alps.

The third part, “20t*"-Century Perspective”, views the historical material through
the prism of its “second life” in the spheres of the history of research and the
history of historic preservation. A historiographical contribution on the so-
called Lublin Renaissance shows how the post-war ideology was reflected in
the research of early modern art, a chapter focused predominantly on vanished
monuments in northwest Bohemia testifies to the inconsiderate treatment of a
certain part of the cultural heritage in socialist Czechoslovakia, whereas a con-
tribution on the modern restoration of the Star Summer Palace in Prague illus-

trates cases when post-war monuments received quality care.

The “Restoration” section contains two contributions. The first one presents,
on the example of Kratochvile Castle, the issues related to the restoration of
Renaissance stucco in a long-term horizon from historical interventions to the
present; the second one describes the circumstances of the particular resto-

ration of an exclusive work - the Green Vault (Griines Gewdlbe) in Dresden.

The final part, “Catalogue”, offers a listing of Renaissance stucco monuments

in the Czech territory, along with a methodological introduction. It contains a
list of localities with short annotations, made based on the overall survey, and
links to an online database where more detailed information is provided about
the individual monuments. The brief catalogue was included in the book to
show the scope of the studied material and to “fixate” the state of knowledge
of Czech Renaissance stucco works at a certain point where it may be smoothly
followed by further research.
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Eliska Fuéikova

The death of Emperor Maximilian 1l in 1576 thwarted the sovereign’s magnani-
mous plan to build a structure outside the gates of Vienna that would provide
an adequate and self-contained space for his personal activities and avoca-
tions. The sculptor Giambologna, whom the ruler would have liked to have at his
service, sent two young artists instead to accomplish the emperor’s scheduled
project. They had successfully participated in similar projects in Italy and their
artistic styles were closely related. The sculptor Hans Mont and the painter
Bartholomeus Spranger were - each in their own discipline - exceptionally tal-
ented representatives of the style of the period and their works were in perfect
harmony. However, when the emperor died, the works on Neugebaude Palace
ceased, primarily because of a lack of money.' The new emperor Rudolf Il kept at
his court only some artists who had worked for his father. Spranger and Mont,
who had only recently arrived, were not granted permanent positions; however,
they obtained an opportunity to present their mastery to the new ruler in 1577
when they were commissioned for the decoration of the Triumphal Arch erected
on the Old Farmers’ Market to celebrate the first entry of Rudolf Il into Vienna
after his coronation as Holy Roman Emperor. Karel van Mander, whom the two
artists asked for assistance back then, recorded the advancing works. Mont
designed the arch’s architecture and sculptural decoration: “He made for this
also some large figures eight to nine feet tall, made first with skeleton of woven
hay and then covered with clay. At the front on either side were to be seen Emper-
or Maximilian and Rudolph, both from life, and among other figures an upright,
nude Neptun, which was an excellent figure, in a beautiful, grand imposing stance.



Above the entrance, over the open, circular field he made the horse Pegasus be-
cause the music was arranged there for when the Emperor passed by. This horse
was twice life-size and at great height. All figures were made of clay and painted
white with oil paint so they shone like white marble”.” A description of Spranger’s
contribution followed - the painted decoration of the arch. Van Mander further
recorded that Mont then travelled to the imperial court in Prague, while Sprang-
er stayed in Vienna. By coincidence, the life stories of the illustrious sculptor
and the future maestro painter of the imperial court began to part. Van Mander
noted that Mont suffered from a dearth of interest in his work, which led to

his leaving the court without saying goodbye, and he reputedly disappeared
somewhere in Turkey. At the time, apparently, there were no suitable spaces for
a stucco decorator at Prague Castle where the sculptor could have applied his
skills; instead, he probably produced some freestanding sculptures. Fortunately,
the Ulm-based merchant Hans Ulrich Krafft plausibly recorded the sculptor’s
life story and shared it with Spranger during his visit to Prague in 1584. An injury
to his left eye from a game at the Ball Game Hall at Prague Castle deprived Hans
Mont of three-dimensional vision; therefore, he left for Ulm in 1582 where he
was hired as the builder of one of the town’s bastions - architecture seems to
have been his other profession. He then departed for Italy and after his return
to Ulm, he met with Krafft once again, on their common holiday in 1584. Mont’s
journey to Italy appears to have prefigured his finding a new job there. Although
Spranger and Mont were faithful friends, the painter was astonished at not hav-
ing received any information about the sculptor’s difficulties, and he was con-
vinced that the emperor had no idea either.” Although a number of the various
sculptures by Adriaen de Vries and Giovanni Battista Quadri are included in the
Kunstkammer’s inventory from 1607-1611, Mont’s name is not even mentioned
once.” Only the sighed drawings™ as well as Bartholomeus Spranger’s Allegory on



the Triumph of Fidelity over Destiny - Allegory on the Fate of Hans Mont painted in
1607 provide one with an idea about Mont’s art production.” As indicated by the
inscription, Spranger used his friend’s composition for the painting. Why did he
do so? And why in that specific year? A new indication seems to have emerged
recently that could help to elucidate it. The Rijksmuseum in Amsterdam has
lately acquired Spranger’s previously unknown painting The Body of Christ Sup-
ported by Angels that was engraved and printed by Hendrik Goltzius

On the print, the date 1587 was unobtrusively added, using tiny numerals, to
the edge of the stone tomb. Its composition is also known from a small-sized
relief that E. K. J. Reznicek once attributed to Spranger - a fact that was univer-
sally accepted.” The relief, previously owned by Lord Seilern, did not pass to the
collection of the Courtauld Institute after his death, but most likely remained

in the possession of one of his heirs, and later went missing. The surviving pho-
tograph indicates that the relief composition should have continued on the two
vertical sides, and similarly, the surface of the terracotta relief was supposed

to receive some treatment, perhaps polychrome .The engraving is a
reproduction of the original and it presents the observer with a mirror-image
composition; however, the sides on the painting fully correspond to the sides
on the relief, meaning the painter must have seen the original relief. Apart from
minor exceptions, he faithfully followed the template, adjusted the format,

and for composition reasons he left out the third angel on the right. Spranger
masterfully transferred the three-dimensional original onto canvas, yet some
details reveal his figural style, e.g., the angel figures. He must have had a com-
pelling reason for choosing a composition for his painting that was made by his
faithful friend. Spranger could have chosen the theme of death and resurrection
because he had learned about Mont’s death. The faintly visible date 1587 on the
stone tomb edge is not included in the legend with the sheet dedication and

the painter’s name. Exactly ten years earlier, in 1577, the two artists met for the



1.1Bartholomeus Spranger,
The Body of Christ Supported
by Angels, oil on copperplate,
33.7 x 26.6 cm, Rijksmuseum
Amsterdam

1.2 Hans Mont, The Body of
Christ Supported by Angels,
terracotta,

221x16.7/18.5 cm

1.3 Prague Castle, Spanish Hall,
temporaly opened original
space of the niche, 1604-1611,
from mid 19th century covered
by mirror, Prague Castle
collection, restoration report
1990



last time, when they worked on the decoration of the Triumphal Arch in Vienna.
Twenty years later, in 1607, the painter returned to his colleague’s composition
to commemorate, as stated in the accompanying text, that extraordinary artist
who could not prove his talent due to his unfortunate fate."” The small-sized
relief The Body of Christ Supported by Angels reveals the presumable direction
of sculpture at Rudolf II’s court had Mont not suffered an injury and had he re-

mained working for the emperor.

It was not until 1589 that Adriaen de Vries appeared at the imperial court as a
new sculptor only temporarily “lent” by the House of Este court in Turin.'' De-
spite the protests of Duke Carlo Emanuele, the original one-year “loan” was
protracted to five years. In Prague, the sculptor produced models for his two
statues of History of Psyche, Hercules Fighting a Dragon, and probably also for
further sculptures to be cast from bronze. In August 1594, de Vries had to leave
for The Hague because his father had died. He then returned to Italy, among
other things, to study classical sculpture in Cortile Belvedere in Vatican, in
Palazzo Farnese, and in other Roman collections. He may have kept the ap-
pearances of famous classical statues via small wax or clay models both for
himself and to present them to potential buyers; therefore, the references to
classical works are also found in his own works. Even then he stayed in touch
with the imperial court through Rudolf Coraduz, the emperor’s envoy and agent
in Rome. “ In the spring of 1596, he relocated to Augsburg where he received a
tremendously prestigious commission to create models for two monumental
fountains in the town. It was not until 1601 that he could accept an offer to re-
turn to Prague and become the court sculptor of Emperor Rudolf Il."~ Shortly



afterwards, the emperor assigned him the task of creating larger than life-size
stucco statues for the south wall niches of the recently initiated construction
of the New Hall, the emperor’s glyptotheque. Regrettably, this monumental
decoration made of material that was rather unusual for de Vries has not sur-
vived; the statues were removed during Pacassi’s renovation of Prague Castle
in the 1760s-1770s .They then disappeared without a trace. The building
office (Hofbauamt) fonds in the Prague Castle Archives include the Baupatiku-
laria from 1611 that contain information about what and when Adriaen de Vries
and Giovanni Battista Quadri completed for the decoration of a new building
erected above the Prague Castle stables and for the Kunstkammer.” The list
associated with de Vries states that the sculptor produced ten statues for the
New Hall (called also New Spanish Hall). Based on the remaining plans, there
were nine niches in the southern wall of the hall. The last, tenth, statue on the
list could have been placed in the hall as a freestanding object. The Allegory of
Victory would best correspond with a significant placement. As described, it
held a statuette in its hand, the attribute of sculpture, which was apposite for
the hall holding the emperor’s sculpture collection. Based on the description,
its composition could have been analogous to De Vries’s bronze statue Allegory
of Imperium Triumphant over Avaritia surviving from 1610 ~ or Flora from around
1612." It is not recorded in the 1621 inventory which suggests that it was placed
somewhere else in the Kunstkammer.

The second version of the list, the settlement of accounts for the completed
works, reveals valuable information that Adriaen de Vries submitted to the of-
fice himself. ' The sculptor informed that he delivered five statues for the newly
built hall - Mars and Wolf, Faun Carrying Bacchus, Venus and Cupid, Hercules with
a Club and Lion’s Skin, and Allegory of the Morning with Drapery, Jug, and Flowers.
He stated that these five sculptures had been standing in the hall for one and

a half years, i.e. since 1609. He listed five more items - and Meleager with a Dog
and Boar’s Head, Apollo with a Bow and Drapery, Bacchante with a Jug, Allegory
of the River with a Water Jug and Fruit, Allegory of Victory with an Eagle, Statuette,



and Wreath in Her Right Hand. These five items were completed and prepared
for installation. Thus, Rudolf Il could have seen the hall decorated with statues
at the end of his life.

The next paragraph of Adriaen de Vries’s list further stated that for the altar-
piece, elaborated by Giovanni Battista Quadri, he modelled the central scene
with the Birth of Christ (The Madonna and Child), two angels on the sides, two
more small angels, and an eagle. He charged another 300 thalers for these six
pieces . The total sum for all of his work amounted to 2,300 thalers;
however, after a discussion with the sculptor, the authorised committee com-
prising of the representatives of Hofbauamt and the architect Filippi, reduced
the amount to the resulting sum of 2,000 threescores of Meissen groschen that
was paid on 21 October 1611." It is questionable whether the relief displayed at
Brandys Castle is identical with the one stated in the accounts because, based
on the description, at least two big angels and the imperial eagle from the de-
scription are missing. Yet, it is possible that the missing parts could have been
added separately. There is evidence of such a case: the epitaph Spranger paint-
ed for his father-in-law Nicolas Miller originally included two De Vries’s statues
of angels that are long missing. ' It is beyond all doubt that Adriaen de Vries
made the Madonna and Child in the relief. As attested to the list of works of the
two sculptors, it was intended for the New Hall and the Kunstkammer which
means that the relief - most likely at the emperor’s request - could be rare
evidence of a perfect collaboration of the two sculptors on a single work. The
emperor could have chosen the template as well, which was Albrecht Direr’s
woodcut from his Marian cycle. After all, the painters Spranger, Von Aachen,
Heintz, and Hans Vredeman de Vries teamed up in a similar collaboration for an
altarpiece painting for a cathedral.

The sculptor Giovanni Battista Quadri also submitted his accounts for submit-

ted work to the same building office fonds.”' The bills included works he created



1.4 Brandys Castle, Adriaen de
Vries, Madonna with the Child,
part of the relief modeled by
him in the Adoration of the Magi
by Giovanni Battista Quadri,
stucco, Prague Castle collection,
report after restoration, 1966

1.5 Prague Castle, Scheme of
the original stucco decoration
of the southern wall of the
Spanish hall from 1605 to 1607,
drawing by Petr Chotébor




for the imperial collection between 1607 and the end of September 1611. Yet

the listed statues were not the first of Quadri’s accomplishments at Prague
Castle.”” As early as 1604, the emperor sought a sculptor who would be able to
produce stucco and fired clay artworks. As documented by the correspondence
between Archduke Maximilian and Philip Lang, the initially addressed Hubert
Gerhard rejected the offer pointing out that there was an excellent and experi-
enced stucco sculptor - his friend Adriaen de Vries - at Prague Castle.

The construction of the New Hall for the emperor’s glyptotheque began in 1602
and progressed rapidly; therefore, its interior decoration was discussed only two
years later. As mentioned above, Adriaen de Vries was commissioned to dec-
orate nine huge niches in the hall’s southern wall with larger-than-life statues.
The need arose to seek more competent stucco modellers for the exceptionally

extensive and demanding decoration of the flat parts of the walls.

Since 1601, the sculptor Giovanni Battista Quadri had assisted Hans Reichle

in decorating the courtyard of the Bishop’s Palace in Brixen, in particular with
terracotta figures of the House of Habsburg members. Prior to 26 April 1605, he
completed his independent work on the Tomb of Saint Hartwig and Hartmann
in the Brixen Cathedral, and then all traces of him disappeared. Apparently, he
was summoned to the imperial residence - perhaps at de Vries’s recommen-
dation - to contribute to the New Hall wall decoration .The records
from 1606 in the Hofbauamt of Bohemian Chamber office mentioned him in
accounts along with his colleagues.”” As is evident from the surviving parts of
the original decoration, some are masterpieces to while others
show average quality .An overall idea about the contribution of Quadri
and other masters would be possible after the cleaning of the northern wall

of the hall. The photos from the northern wall show a thick layer of successive
coats of white paint that devalue the original stucco decoration.

Nevertheless, the New Hall’s stucco decoration was not the single task Quadri
was appointed to at Prague Castle. A list of his sculptures appears in the only
surviving section of the 1607-1611 inventory, perhaps of the largest room of the



